

### Arbuscular Mycorrhizae and Water Relations in Citrus

### Qiang-Sheng Wu<sup>1\*</sup> • Yoseph Levy<sup>2</sup> • Ying-Ning Zou<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> College of Horticulture and Gardening, Yangtze University, Jingzhou City, Hubei Province 434025, P.R. China <sup>2</sup> Agricultural Research Organization, Gilat Research Center, D.N. Negev 85280, Israel

Corresponding author: \* wuqiangsh@163.com

#### ABSTRACT

Citrus is one of the most important commercial fruit crops throughout the world, including China. However, it is grown in regions that are frequently subjected to water deficiency, which restricts the yield and quality of the crop. Citrus has very few and short root hairs and is highly dependent on arbuscular mycorrhizae, since the mutualistic symbiosis replaces some of the root hairs' functions. In this review, we describe arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis, mycorrhizal dependency of citrus, and the effect of drought stress on mycorrhizal development in citrus plants. We also describe advances in understanding how arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis improves water relations in citrus. These mechanisms include the direct water uptake and transport via external hyphae, the indirect effect of improved phosphorus nutrition, the improvement of osmotic adjustment and reactive oxygen metabolism, and the effect of glomalin produced by arbuscular mycorrhizae.

#### Keywords: arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, rootstock, drought, symbiosis

Abbreviations:  $\Psi$ , leaf water potential; AM, arbuscular mycorrhizal; APX, ascorbate peroxidase; ASC, ascorbate; BRSP, Bradfordreactive soil protein; CAT, catalase; G-POD, guaiacol peroxidase; GPX, glutathione peroxidase; GR, glutathione reductase; GRSP, glomalin-related soil protein; GSH, glutathione;  $H_2O_2$ , hydrogen peroxide; IRSP, immunoreactive soil protein; MD, mycorrhizal dependency; NSC, total non-structural carbohydrate;  $^{1}O_2$ , singlet oxygen;  $O_2^{-}$ , superoxide anion radical; OH, hydroxyl radicals; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SOD, superoxide dismutase. Abbreviations of *Citrus* and *Citrus* relatives names appear in Table 4

#### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
AM SYMBIOSIS	
MYCORRHIZAL DEPENDENCY OF CITRUS	
DROUGHT STRESS AFFECTS AM FUNGAL DEVELOPMENT OF CITRUS	
ARBUSCULAR MYCORRHIZAE IMPROVE WATER RELATIONS IN CITRUS	
Direct water uptake and transport via external hyphae	
Indirect effect of improved P nutrition	
Improvement of osmotic adjustment	
Improvement of reactive oxygen metabolism	
Effect of glomalin produced by AM fungi	
CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	
REFERENCES	

#### INTRODUCTION

Of all the stresses that negatively affect plant growth, drought is among the most lethal from a global point of view (Zézé *et al.* 2007). This is because water is an integral component of the biochemical reactions in the plant that govern the numerous metabolic, physiological and biochemical processes affecting plant productivity (Alam 1999). Citrus is a major horticultural commodity worldwide, second only to bananas, in terms of volume of world trade. Most of citrus' global production depends on irrigation for economic production (Shalhevet and Levy 1990).

In citrus, drought stress strongly inhibits vegetative growth, reduces yield, and has a deleterious effect on fruit quality (Levy *et al.* 1978a, 1978b, 1979); it can even change the root-distribution pattern (Arbona *et al.* 2005; García-Sánchez *et al.* 2007). However, although the plant is mesomorphic, the leaves have many xeromorphic characteristics that help it survive drought (Levy and Syvertsen 2004). In some regions, citrus plants are grown without irrigation, such as in hot, humid tropical areas with a monsoon-type rainfall distribution, despite four or five months of severe winter drought in most years. In addition, a number of soil microorganisms, including arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi, have been shown to alleviate symptoms of drought stress. Research on the relations between AM and water status of citrus began ca. 30 years ago, when Levy and Krikun (1980) reported the effect of AM fungi on water relations of citrus seedlings. Since then, a multitude of experiments have indicated that the AM symbiosis improves water-relations and plays an important role in citrus growth under conditions of drought stress (Fig. 1). The present review focuses on advances in our understanding of the mechanisms underlying AM's improvement of water relations in citrus.



Fig. 1 Growth status of mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal TRIF seedlings grown in well-watered and drought stress conditions. (A) *G. versiforme*-inoculated TRIF seedlings grown in well-watered condition; (B) uninoculated TRIF seedlings grown in well-watered condition; (C)*G. versiforme*-inoculated TRIF seedlings grown in drought stress condition; (D) uninoculated TRIF seedlings grown in drought stress condition; (Figure by Q.S. Wu, unpublished results).

#### **AM SYMBIOSIS**

In 1885, A.B. Frank, a German scientist, coined the name "mvcorrhiza" describe the specific mutualistic to association existing between higher plants and mycorrhizal soil fungi. The association is based on bidirectional movement of nutrients, in which carbon flows to the fungus and inorganic nutrients move into the plant (Sylvia 2004). There are seven types of mycorrhizae: arbuscular mycorrhizae. ectomycorrhizae, ectendomycorrhizae, arbutoid mycorrhizae, monotropoid mycorrhizae, ericoid mycorrhizae and orchid mycorrhizae. Citrus typically belongs to AM plants. AM symbiosis is the most widespread plant-root symbiosis, found in approximately 90% of the Earth's land plant species (Gadkar et al. 2001; Gianinazzi et al. 2005). AM fungi have a broad host range, as evidenced by the fact that approximately 150 species of AM fungi colonize an estimated 225,000 species of plant hosts. Schüssler et al. (2001) classified AM fungi based on the morphological and molecular characteristics of their asexual spores into eight genera: Glomus, Paraglomus, Sclerocystis, Scutellospora, Gigaspora, Acaulospora, Archaeospora and Entrophospora. Most arbuscular mycorrhizae are characterized by the presence of intraradical hyphae (intercellular or intracellular in location), arbuscules (finely branched hyphae involved in nutrient exchange), extraradical mycelium (hyphae that connect the root to the soil), and spores formed in the extraradical mycelium (Peterson et al. 2004). With the exception of species in the genera Gigaspora and Scutellospora that produce auxiliary vesicles (sometimes called auxiliary bodies or cells) in the extraradical mycelium, all



Fig. 2 Citrus (*Citrus unshiu* Marc. cv. 'Guoqing No. 4'/*Poncirus trifoliata*) roots colonized by native AM fungi. (A) Extending extraradical mycelium. (B) Root cap and meristematic zone infected by native AM fungi. (Figure by Q.S. Wu, unpublished results).

other species form intraradical structures referred to as vesicles.

In the field, AM fungi can form structures in citrus roots, such as vesicles, arbuscules, entry points, extraradical mycelium, and intraradical hyphae (Fig. 2A). There are few vesicles in the AM roots of citrus, whereas the arbuscules are observed everywhere (Q.S. Wu, unpublished results). AM structures are found mainly in the root's elongation and maturation zones. In addition, the root cap and meristematic zone are infected by native AM fungi (Fig. 2B). So far, the rhizosphere of citrus trees has found *Glomus*, *Sclerocystis*, *Gigaspora*, and *Acaulospora* species (Nemec *et al.* 1981; Vinayak and Bagyaraj 1990), and is fairly dependent on *Glomus* species (Davies and Albrigo 1994).

#### MYCORRHIZAL DEPENDENCY OF CITRUS

Gerdemann (1975) defined mycorrhizal dependency (MD) as the degree to which a plant is dependent on the mycorrhizal condition for maximum growth or yield at a given level of soil fertility. As a rule, MD is expressed as the ratio between the dry weights of AM and non-AM plants. Different citrus rootstocks show large differences in MD under controlled conditions. Rootstocks with long and abundant root hairs are less dependent than those with short or few root hairs. The order of MD of five rootstocks grown in a low-P sandy soil with Glomus intraradices was found to be: sour orange (SO) = Cleopatra mandarin (CLEO) > Swingle citrumelo (CTRM) > Carrizo citrange (CARZ) > trifoliate orange (TRIF), when compared with non-inoculated rootstocks supplemented with P fertilization (Graham and Syvertsen 1985). Under well-watered conditions, rootstocks with lower MD, such as TRIF and its hybrid CARZ, generally exhibit greater hydraulic conductivity in their roots, as well as higher transpiration and CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation rates, implying that MD may be related to improved water relations of citrus rootstocks.

Drought stress also affects citrus MD. When red tangerine (REDT) was colonized separately by five different Glomus species - G. mosseae, G. geosporum, G. versiforme, G. etunicatum and G. diaphanum, drought stress notably reduced the MD of the plants (Wu et al. 2007b). However, the MD of TRIF seedlings was increased by drought stress when inoculated with G. mosseae, G. geosporum or G. etunicatum (Wu et al. 2006a). Therefore, the effect of drought stress on MD depends on the citrus rootstock, and within the same rootstock. MD differs with different fungal species. Under well-watered and drought-stress conditions, the MD ranking of five Glomus species was as follows: G. mosseae  $\approx G.$  geosporum > G. versiforme > G. etunicatum > G. diaphanum (Wu et al. 2007b). It was concluded that the response of MD in citrus is affected by rootstock, drought stress and Glomus species, and that these effects are interdependent. In addition, the magnitude of MD of citrus may be accurately predicted by equations using soil P, Mn, Zn, and also Cu and pH as independent variables, because the MD of Troyer citrange (TROY) on G. fasciculatus in 26 California citrus soils was positively correlated with soil pH and inversely correlated with extractable soil P, Zn, Mn, Cu, percent organic matter, and cation-exchange capacity (Menge et al. 1982). In other words, citrus rootstocks exhibited the greatest MD with the least fertilization (Menge et al. 1978).

## DROUGHT STRESS AFFECTS AM FUNGAL DEVELOPMENT OF CITRUS

The effects of drought stress on AM fungal development are summarized in **Table 1**. In all of these experiments, except those of Eissenstat *et al.* (1999) and Johnson and Hummel (1985), drought-stress decreased root colonization. The different results may be ascribed to both used species of AM fungi and citrus materials provided. Soil drying decreased the number of entry points in six experiments, whereas in one of them, entry points increased. When citrus plants

Table 1 Effect of drought stress on AM fungal development of citrus. Colonization was quantified as percent of roots colonized (col%).

Fungal species	Host species	Parameter	Length of drought (days)	Reference
Glomus diaphanum	Citrus tangerine	<col%, <entry="" <vesicles,<="" points,="" td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2007b</td></col%,>	80	Wu et al. 2007b
		<arbuscules< td=""><td></td><td></td></arbuscules<>		
	Poncirus trifoliata	<col%< td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2006b</td></col%<>	80	Wu et al. 2006b
		<col%,>hyphal density</col%,>	80	Wu et al. 2008
G. etunicatum	Citrus tangerine	<col%, <entry="" <vesicles,<="" points,="" td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2007b</td></col%,>	80	Wu et al. 2007b
		<arbuscules< td=""><td></td><td></td></arbuscules<>		
	Poncirus trifoliata	<col%< td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2006a</td></col%<>	80	Wu et al. 2006a
G. geosporum	Citrus tangerine	<col%, <entry="" <vesicles,<="" points,="" td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2007b</td></col%,>	80	Wu et al. 2007b
		<arbuscules< td=""><td></td><td></td></arbuscules<>		
	Poncirus trifoliata	<col%< td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2006a</td></col%<>	80	Wu et al. 2006a
G. intraradices	Poncirus trifoliata × Citrus sinensis	>col%	~135	Johnson and Hummel 1985
G. mosseae mainly	Citrus aurantium	<col%< td=""><td>&gt;40</td><td>Levy et al. 1983a</td></col%<>	>40	Levy et al. 1983a
G. mosseae	Poncirus trifoliata	<col%< td=""><td>120, 113, 80</td><td>Wu et al. 2004, 2006a,</td></col%<>	120, 113, 80	Wu et al. 2004, 2006a,
				2008; Wu and Xia 2006a
		>hyphal density	80	Wu et al. 2008
	Citrus tangerine	<col%, <entry="" <vesicles,<="" points,="" td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2007b</td></col%,>	80	Wu et al. 2007b
		<arbuscules< td=""><td></td><td></td></arbuscules<>		
G. sp. FL904	Citrus aurantium	=col%	42	Eissenstat et al. 1999
G. versiforme	Citrus tangerine	<col%,>entry points, <vesicles,< td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2007b</td></vesicles,<></col%,>	80	Wu et al. 2007b
		<arbuscules< td=""><td></td><td></td></arbuscules<>		
		<col%, <entry="" <vesicles,<="" points,="" td=""><td>97</td><td>Wu and Xia 2006a</td></col%,>	97	Wu and Xia 2006a
		<arbuscules< td=""><td></td><td></td></arbuscules<>		
	Poncirus trifoliata	<col%< td=""><td>80</td><td>Wu et al. 2006a</td></col%<>	80	Wu et al. 2006a
		<col%, <entry="" <vesicles,<="" points,="" td=""><td>97</td><td>Wu <i>et al</i>. 2007a</td></col%,>	97	Wu <i>et al</i> . 2007a
		<arbuscules< td=""><td></td><td></td></arbuscules<>		
		>hyphal density	80	Wu et al. 2008

Symbols <, >, = indicate that drought stress decreased, increased, or did not affect the parameter, respectively.

were subjected to drought-stress, arbuscules and vesicles were clearly reduced in AM roots, whereas in an experiment performed by Wu et al. (2008), hyphal density in the soil increased. Based on an analysis of over 150 reports (Augé 2001), a relatively short drought duration was found to have no effect on AM colonization of potted plants, whereas longer drought decreased AM colonization. Levy et al. (1983a) observed an increase in AM infection of SO with decreasing soil moisture in the 0- to 60-cm soil layer in the field, but a very long interval between irrigations (40 days) reduced available water in the 0- to 30-cm layer and decreased AM colonization. Soil O<sub>2</sub> concentration decreases with depth, and frequent irrigation decreased O2 concentration in the upper soil layers, thereby reducing AM infection. In a field experiment, AM colonization of adult pomelo (POML) cv. 'Shatianyou' trees increased with increasing of soil water content (Xue 2004) to an optimum of  $\sim 9$  to 11%; further increases in water content had a negative effect on AM colonization.

#### ARBUSCULAR MYCORRHIZAE IMPROVE WATER RELATIONS IN CITRUS

Since Levy and Krikun (1980) first reported on the effect of AM fungi on water relations in rough lemon (RL) seedlings, studied citrus plants have included TRIF, REDT, SO, grapefruit/sour orange, 'Cara Cara' (C. sinensis L. cv. 'Cara Cara')/trifoliate orange, citrange, CLEO, CTRM, CARZ, Alemow (MACR), POML, 'Bessie' Sweet orange (SwO), Troyer citrange (TROY) and Volkamer lemon (VOLK),. The involved AM fungal species have included G. mosseae, G. diaphanum, G. versiforme, G. intraradices, G. etunica-tum, G. geosporum, G. sp. FL904, G. sp. 25A, and Gigaspora margarita. Parameters studied have included osmotic adjustment, reactive oxygen metabolism, nutrition physiology, water physiology and AM fungal specificity. The re-search was conducted mainly in affiliation with the following academic organizations: (1) Citrus Research and Education Center, University of Florida; (2) Department of Plant Biology, Arizona State University; (3) Department of Ornamental Horticulture, University of Florida; (4) Department of Horticulture, College of Agricultural Sciences, Penn State University; (5) Lab of Pomology, Graduate School of Agriculture, Kyoto Prefectural University; (6)

Gilat Research Center, D.N. Negev; (7) College of Horticulture and Forestry, Huazhong Agricultural University; (8) College of Horticulture and Gardening, Yangtze University; (9) College of Horticulture and Landscape Architecture, Southwest University.

A large number of experiments have confirmed that AM citrus plants, both well-watered and drought-stressed, generally show higher stomatal conductance, transpiration and photosynthesis than their experimental non-AM counter-parts (Fidelibus et al. 2001; Levy and Krikun 1980; Levy et al. 1983b; Wu and Xia 2006a; Wu et al. 2007b), implying that AM symbiosis allows leaves to maintain a more normal water balance and to fix more carbon during drought stress (Augé 2004). In addition, leaf water potential ( $\Psi$ ) is usually increased by AM symbiosis, regardless of water limitations (Wu and Xia 2006a; Wu et al. 2007a). Leaves of AM and non-AM citrus plants might be expected to develop dissimilar symplastic solute pools, resulting in improved osmotic adjustment (Wu and Xia 2006a; Wu et al. 2007a). Leaf water content or relative water content are compared much less frequently in AM vs. non-AM citrus plants than leaf  $\Psi$ . AM symbiosis usually increases host growth during drought by affecting nutrient acquisition and possibly hydration. The contents of P, K, and Ca were found to be higher in AM citrus seedlings than in non-AM seedlings under both wellwatered and drought-stress conditions, and the mycorrhizal contribution to seedlings was higher under drought stress than under well-watered conditions (Wu and Zou 2007). As a result, the effect of AM symbiosis on citrus nutrition is more pronounced in plants grown under drought stress than in those grown under well-watered conditions (Sánchez-Díaz and Honrubia 1994). Espeleta et al. (1999) in comparing different studies using citrus seedlings, concluded that, in general, AM effects on root responses to localized drought may be noticeably affected by tree developmental stage.

A field technique was designed to compare the AM roots of adult red grapefruit trees to VOLK exposed to dry surface soil (Espeleta *et al.* 1999). One wooden chamber  $(45 \times 45 \times 50 \text{ cm})$  was buried about 1 m from the bole of the tree and was covered with an insulated lid to exclude rainwater and sunlight. Each split-pot system consisted of two vertically arranged plastic pots with a transparent plastic window for root mapping. One split-pot contained AM

roots from an adult tree and the other non-AM roots from the same tree. This simple technique enabled the manipulation of AM fungal colonization on the trees. Unfortunately, this technique has not been taken advantage of by other mycorrhizal researchers.

Although AM fungal infection has been found to improve water relations in citrus plants, the mechanisms underlying the increase in drought resistance or improvement in water flow are uncertain. Potential mechanisms are described here.

# Direct water uptake and transport via external hyphae

Increasing evidence has confirmed that external hyphae can directly take up water from soils. The external mycelium has several functions, the most important of which is the uptake and translocation of water and mineral nutrients, such as, P from the soil solution to the roots. The highly branched nature of the absorbing hyphae increases the surface area for water uptake. Hyphal growth away from the depletion zone at the root surface extends the region from which water can be absorbed (Peterson et al. 2004). Hyphae are able to extend into soil pores that are too small for roots to enter (Morgan et al. 2005). Hyphal water transport is involved in changes in transpiration and hydraulic conductivity. Under well-watered conditions, AM RL usually exhibits higher transpiration than non-mycorrhizal plants (Levy and Krikun 1980). Under non-limited soil moisture conditions, AM CARZ and SO seedlings exhibit better root hydraulic conductivity and higher transpiration (Graham and Syvertsen 1984). Wu and Xia (2006b) reported greater active and total absorption areas of root systems in AM vs. non-AM TRIF seedlings, especially with soil water contents of 20% and 16%. Root length of VOLK was stimulated by inoculation with geographic isolates of Glomus (G. sp. 25A, G. mosseae 51C, G. mosseae 114C, and G. intraradices FL208) from arid, semi-arid and mesic areas (Fidelibus et al. 2001). Abundant water in mycorrhizal citrus roots, due to direct water uptake, ensures normal physiological metabolism. Therefore, the maintenance of AM activity through direct water translocation could potentially improve the drought resistance of plants during periods of dry soils. Even after prolonged drought (70-80 days), AM hyphae persisted in soil with a water potential as low as -20 MPa (Querejeta et al. 2003). Therefore, adequate management of the AM symbiosis is vital to enhancing plants' drought resistance. Moreover, enhanced symplastic water transport via expression of the plasma membrane aquaporin gene (*NtAOP1*) is important for the efficiency of AM symbiosis, at least under drought conditions (Porcel et al. 2005b).

The hyphal contribution to water transport is rather large. When the hydraulic conductivity of an entire hypha was measured at 1 cm/(s MPa), with a hyphal diameter of 10 mm, water transport under a 0.5 MPa gradient is 5.4 nl/h; considering the hydraulic conductivity of an entire hypha of 10 cm/(s MPa), transport can reach 54 nl/h (Allen 2006). Rapid channels of water transport and rapid waterpotential equilibration can occur within hyphal cells, because the cells of fungal hyphae have no membrane (Wu and Xia 2004). Owing to the bidirectional flow of water in hyphae, the reverse water flow into the soil is much smaller than the flow rates associated with transpiration.

#### Indirect effect of improved P nutrition

P is considered the most important plant-growth-limiting factor supplied by the AM association, because its restricted mobility in soils causes depletion zones around the roots (Brundrett and Abbott 2002). Hyphae of AM fungi are primarily responsible for helping plants acquire P. The P-acquisition process involves the transportation of P from the soil solution, across the membrane of the fungal hypha with the help of phosphate transporters in the external mycelium, movement of P along the hyphae to the arbuscule, un-

loading of the P from the fungal arbuscules at the arbusculecortical cell interface with the help of phosphate transporters on plant and fungal membranes, and uptake of this P by the plant cortical cells via transporters (Garg *et al.* 2006).

The increased drought resistance of host plants due to AM symbiosis may be a secondary response to better host nutrition - particularly P (Henderson and Davies 1990). Nelsen and Safir (1982b) found that the ability of AM onions to maintain P uptake under conditions of low soil moisture was the basis for the observed improved drought tolerance. Yano-Melo et al. (1999) reported that G. clarum and G. etunicatum enhance growth, photosynthesis and transpiration of Musa, but that these effects are probably caused by improved host P nutrition. A potted experiment showed that G. versiforme colonization of TRIF seedlings significantly increases the P content of well-watered and drought-stressed leaves by 9% and 16%, respectively (Wu and Zou 2007). Although drought stress reduced P content in leaf tissues of CARZ seedlings inoculated with G. intraradices after transplanting into large containers, P levels of AM seedlings were greater than those of non-AM seedlings, implying that AM infection improves the establishment of transplanted citrus by improving P uptake (Johnson and Hummel 1985). In citrus plants, transpiration and hydraulic conductivity were not significantly influenced by AM colonization under conditions of adequate P nutrition and soil moisture (Graham et al. 1987). However, AM plants grown under low soil P had higher stomatal conductivity than their non-AM counterparts. Addition of P fertilizer to non-AM plants essentially eliminated the differences in resistance to water transport (Nelsen and Safir 1982a, 1982b), and the increased water transport in AM roots was correlated with improved P nutrition (Hardie and Leyton 1981). It was concluded that improved P status of citrus due to AM symbiosis strongly affects water relations in citrus – and that in and of itself, the flow of water through the hyphae is not the primary factor. Therefore, in dry soil, mycorrhizal enhancement of P acquisition becomes much more important. However, no difference was observed in leaf P contents of AM vs. non-AM Citrus jambhiri seedlings (Dixon et al. 1988).

Based on the above-described experiments, P insufficiency and small shoots of non-AM plants are usually confounding factors, and thus controlling for AM effects on host P nutrition is a challenge (Augé 2001). Young AM and non-AM C. volkameriana had similar shoot sizes following the addition of P fertilizer to non-AM citrus plants (Fidelibus et al. 2001). Even with different allotments of P fertilizer, treatment with four geographic isolates of Glomus stimulated root growth compared with non-AM citrus plants after the recovery period following a soil-drying episode. Leaf P was lowest in non-AM plants. There was a positive correlation between leaf P content and root dry weight and length (r = 0.71 and 0.83, respectively). Thus the improved P nutrition of plants due to AM association may be an indirect mechanism, a consequence of the improved root system. However, an opposite view was brought forward by Graham et al. (1987). These authors reported that when 5month-old AM (G. intraradices) and non-AM (fertilized with soluble P) CARZ and SO seedlings were comparable in size and P sufficiency, AM symbiosis did not significantly enhance water relations of citrus under two droughtstress cycles of short duration. Under such conditions, the stress affected primarily the roots, rather than hyphal nutrient uptake (Hartmond et al. 1987). Therefore, further studies on the relationship between P nutrition and AM citrus water relations are needed.

#### Improvement of osmotic adjustment

Osmotic adjustment is an important adaptive response to drought stress in higher plants. The term refers to the lowering of osmotic potential due to a net accumulation of solutes in response to water deficit, and is distinct from the change in osmotic potential due to increased solute concentration associated with reductions in cell water content

Table 2 Effects of the AM fungus, *Glomus versiforme*, on the levels of the solutes participating in osmotic adjustment in TRIF seedlings under wellwatered and drought-stress conditions

Parameter	Well-watered				Drought stress			
	Leaf	Significance	Root	Significance	Leaf	Significance	Root	Significance
K <sup>+</sup>	>	*	>	NS	>	*	>	*
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	>	NS	>	*	>	*	>	*
Mg <sup>2+</sup>	<	NS	<	NS	=	NS	<	NS
Proline	<	*	<	NS	<	*	<	NS
Soluble sugar	>	*	>	*	>	*	>	NS
Soluble starch	>	*	>	NS	>	*	>	*
NSC	>	*	>	*	>	*	>	*
Glucose	<	*	>	*	>	NS	>	*
Fructose	<	*	>	*	>	NS	>	NS
Sucrose	<	NS	>	*	>	*	>	*

Symbols <, > indicate that AM symbiosis decreased or increased the parameter, respectively. Symbol = indicates that the parameter was similar in AM and non-AM plants. \*, NS: significant or non-significant differences (p < 0.05) in the parameter, respectively.

Source: Reconsolidation from *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* (Wu *et al.* 2007a).

under drought (Chimenti *et al.* 2006). In the earliest work on the subject, Augé *et al.* (1986) concluded that AM fungi decrease the osmotic potential of leaves at full turgor and at the turgor loss points, with a corresponding increase in pressure potential at full turgor. AM association enabled plants to maintain leaf turgor and conductance under greater tissue water deficits, and at lower leaf and soil water potentials. Similarly, drought stress notably decreased leaf  $\Psi$  in TRIF seedlings, but the decrease was larger in non-AM seedlings (-0.53 MPa) than in their AM counterparts (-0.44 MPa) (Wu *et al.* 2007a). AM symbiosis significantly increased seedlings' leaf  $\Psi$  and relative water content, regardless of soilwater status.

The solutes participating in the osmotic adjustment are inorganic ions (K<sup>+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>) or uncharged organic compounds (proline, sucrose). AM symbiosis alters these solute levels in citrus plants regardless of soil water status. For example, AM citrus plants grown under drought-stress conditions exhibited higher soluble sugar content in their leaves, higher soluble starch and total non-structural carbohydrate (NSC) contents in leaves and roots, and higher glucose content in roots, sucrose content in leaves and roots, and K<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels in leaves and roots, relative to droughtstressed non-AM plants (**Table 2**; Wu *et al.* 2007a). These beneficial responses of solutes to AM fungal colonization enhance citrus plant drought tolerance by osmotic adjustment, thus protecting and stabilizing macromolecules and structures from damage induced by drought stress (Martinez *et al.* 2004).

The accumulation of proline is a commonly observed metabolic response of higher plants, including citrus, to water deficit (Levy 1980). In Wu and Xia (2006a) and Wu et al. (2007a), AM citrus plants generally showed lower proline levels than non-AM plants, when exposed to wellwatered and drought-stress conditions. It is well-known that a high proline level may help plants survive short droughts and recover from stress (Sanchez et al. 1998). The decrease of proline in AM plants may be attributed to either their greater drought resistance or decreased injury in these plants grown under drought conditions, implying that the plants are more successful at avoiding drought stress (Augé 2004; Porcel and Ruiz-Lozano 2004). Further experiments confirmed that AM infection decreases the gene expression of  $\Delta^1$ -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (a key proline synthetase) under drought-stress conditions (Porcel et al. 2004).

An analysis of the net accumulation of solutes in citrus plants in response to drought stress indicated that better osmotic adjustment in AM plants originates not from proline, but from  $K^+$ ,  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$ , glucose, fructose and sucrose (Wu *et al.* 2007a).

#### Improvement of reactive oxygen metabolism

In higher plants, reactive oxygen species (ROS) are continuously produced as byproducts of various metabolic pathways in different cellular compartments (Apel and Hirt 2004). Under steady-state physiological conditions, these molecules are scavenged by different components of the antioxidative-defense system. However, the equilibrium between production and scavenging of ROS may be perturbed by a number of adverse environmental factors, including drought stress. A variety of ROS, such as superoxide anion radical  $(O_2^{-})$ , hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$ , hydroxyl radicals (OH) and singlet oxygen (<sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>), are then induced (Jung 2004). Higher plants rapidly detoxify the poisonous ROS by various cellular enzymatic and non-enzymatic mechanisms, thus protecting them from oxidative injury (Asada 1999). Non-enzymatic antioxidants include the major cellular redox buffers ascorbate (ASC) and glutathione (GSH), as well as tocopherol, flavonoids, alkaloids, and carotenoids. Enzymatic ROS-scavenging compounds in plants include superoxide dismutase (SOD), guaiacol peroxidase (G-POD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), glutathione peroxidase (GPX), glutathione reductase (GR), and catalase (CAT).

In an experiment performed by Wu et al. (2006b), G. versiforme inoculation notably decreased malondialdehyde (MDA),  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_2^+$  in roots and drought-stressed leaves of TRIF seedlings (Table 3), indicating a lower accumulation of ROS in AM seedlings. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> accumulated less in branched arbuscules and around hyphal tips penetrating the host cell (Salzer et al. 1999). Moreover, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> accumulation was not observed in the fungal hyphal tips growing along the middle lamella, or in appressorium or vesicles. The intracellular accumulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was found in the cytoplasm of AM plants close to intact and collapsing fungal structures, whereas intercellular H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was located on the surface of the fungal hyphae (Fester and Hause 2005). It was concluded that in the cells of AM roots, locally induced accumulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is limited, both near the intracellular AM hyphae and at the intercellular hyphal surface. It is now clear that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> may also function as a molecular signal in plant cells, triggering tolerance against various abiotic stresses (Neto et al. 2005)

In both well-watered and drought-stressed REDT roots, SOD activity was significantly higher in AM than in non-AM plants (Wu et al. 2006c), indicating the induction of some new SOD isozyme (Palma et al. 1993) or expression of the Mn-SOD II gene (Ruiz-Lozano et al. 2001). AM infection generally increased the activities of G-POD, CAT, APX and GR in citrus plants exposed to well-watered conditions, drought stress or drought recovery (Table 3; Wu and Xia 2005; Wu et al. 2006a, 2006b, 2006c, 2007b; Yu et al. 2007). Moreover, the levels of non-enzymatic antioxidants, such as GSH and ASC, were often higher in AM than in non-AM citrus plants (Table 3; Wu et al. 2006b, 2006c). Therefore, when AM plants are subjected to drought stress, enzymatic and non-enzymatic ROS-scavenging mechanisms are rapidly induced and enhanced, thus partly explaining the lower ROS levels in these plants. Finally, AM symbiosis protects the host plant against oxidative damage, in turn

Table 3 Effects of the AM fungus, *Glomus versiforme*, on ROS and components of ROS-scavenging mechanisms in TRIF seedlings under well-watered and drought-stress conditions.

Parameter	Well-watered				Drought stress			
	Leaf	Significance	Root	Significance	Leaf	Significance	Root	Significance
MDA	<	*	<	*	<	*	<	*
$H_2O_2$	<	NS	<	*	<	*	<	*
$O_2^{\cdot -}$	<	NS	<	*	<	*	<	*
SOD	>	NS	>	NS	>	NS	<	*
G-POD	>	*	>	NS	>	*	<	NS
CAT	>	NS	>	NS	>	*	>	NS
APX	<	NS	>	*	>	*	>	*
GR	>	*	>	NS	>	*	<	NS
Soluble protein	>	*	>	*	>	NS	>	*
ASC	>	*	>	NS	>	*	>	*
GSH	>	*	>	*	>	*	>	*

Symbols <, > indicate that AM symbiosis decreased or increased the parameter, respectively.

\*, NS: significant or non-significant differences (p < 0.05) in the parameter, respectively.

Source: Wu QS, Xia RX, Zou YN (2006b) Reactive oxygen metabolism in mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal citrus (*Poncirus trifoliata*) seedlings subjected to water stress. Journal of Plant Physiology 163, 1101-1110, ©2006, with kind permission from Journal of Plant Physiology.

enhancing drought tolerance. That is to say, AM protection against the oxidative stress caused by drought is perhaps one of the most important mechanisms by which the AM symbiosis increases the tolerance of host plants to drought (Ruiz-Lozano 2003).

#### Effect of glomalin produced by AM fungi

AM hyphae have been shown to bind soil particles into water-stable aggregates (Tisdall and Oades 1979). This binding was found to be due to glomalin, an immunoreactive glycoprotein produced by the hyphae of AM fungi (Wright and Upadhyaya 1996). This protein is abundant in a wide range of soil environments at concentrations of 2 to 15 mg/g, and even up to >60 mg/g (Wright and Upadhyaya 1998; Wright et al. 1999). Glomalin appears to be as ubiquitous as the AM fungi themselves (Wright and Upadhyaya 1998). Large glomalin pools also result from its high persistence in the soil (Rillig et al. 2001). In soils, glomalin is quantified as glomalin-related soil protein (GRSP), an alkaline-soluble protein material linked to AM fungi that is defined by the extraction conditions (Rillig 2004; Nichols and Wright 2006; Vodnik et al. 2008). There are currently two detection methods used to quantify GRSP: the Bradford protein assay, yielding Bradford-reactive soil protein (BRSP), and an ELISA yielding immunoreactive soil protein (IRSP) (Rosier et al. 2006).

The concentration of BRSP in soils of well-watered and drought-stressed TRIF seedlings colonized by G. versiforme, G. mosseae, and G. diaphanum varied from 1.64 to 1.93 mg/g (Wu et al. 2008). Drought stress reduced the BRSP concentration slightly, albeit not significantly. The trend of BRSP in plants subjected to drought stress paralleled that of hyphal density, indicating a connection between the two (r = 0.7169, p < 0.0001). BRSP was positively correlated with water-stable soil aggregates (>2 mm, r = 0.6217, p < 0.01; 1-2 mm, r = 0.6153, p < 0.01; > 0.25 mm, r = 0.6481, p < 0.01; 0.001). Thus, AM soils maintained more water-stable aggregates and better soil structure, and consequently held more moisture (Augé et al. 2001). An indirect mechanism enabling water uptake by roots of AM plants consists of preventing the development of significant gaps between the root and soil, thereby maintaining liquid continuity across the soil-root interface (Reid 1984). Taken together, the increased water-stable aggregates and higher BRSP due to AM colonization lead to better soil structure and alter the soil's moisture-retention properties which, in turn, lead to better plant drought resistance.

#### CONCLUSIONS

The statement that AM symbiosis can improve water relations and drought responses in citrus invariably holds true. Most of the above-described studies have focused on how AM fungi affect citrus plants. In fact, research has often neglected the "mycorrhizal soil", even though mycorrhizal colonization of soil can affect that soil's moisture-retention properties, and thereby have marked direct and total effects on plant dehydration tolerance (Augé 2004).

Plants can adapt to drought stress by the induction of specific genes, whose products are thought to function in stress tolerance and responses (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki 2005). Recently, some molecular studies have been conducted on AM symbiosis with lettuce (Ruiz-Lozano et al. 2001; Porcel et al. 2004, 2005a, 2006, 2007), soybean (Porcel et al. 2004, 2005a, 2006, 2007), tobacco (Porcel et al. 2005b, 2007), and maize (Porcel et al. 2007) under drought-stress conditions. These studis have revealed that AM symbiosis in combination with drought stress might induce a variety of specific genes (e.g. Mn-sod II gene, G. intraradices 14-3-3 gene, and a gene from G. *intraradices* encoding a binding protein) expression to enhance drought tolerance of host plants. However, there is little information on AM citrus plants at the molecular level. Despite the many advances described herein, the molecular basis of drought-stress tolerance in AM plants remains far from being understood (Porcel et al. 2004) because it is important to analyze functions of stress-inducible genes for further understanding molecular mechanisms of stress tolerance and response of drought-stressed plants after inoculated with AM fungi.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was supported by both the National Natural Science Foundation of China under Grant no. 30800747 and the Scientific Research Foundation for Doctor, Yangtze University (39210264).

Table 4 Abbreviations of Citrus and Citrus relatives' names.

Abbreviation	Name
CARZ	Carrizo citrange (C. sinensis [L.] Osbeck × Poncirus
	trifoliata L.)
CLEO	Cleopatra mandarin (C. reshnii Hort ex Tan.)
CTRM	Swingle citrumelo (C. paradisi × P. trifoliata)
MACR	Alemow (C. macrophylla Westr.)
POML	Pomelo (C. grandis Osbeck.)
REDT	Red tangerine (C. tangerine Hort. ex Tan.)
RL	rough lemon (C. jambhiri Lush.)
SO	sour orange (C. aurantium L.)
SwO	sweet orange (C. sinensis [L.] Osbeck.)
TRIF	trifoliate orange (Poncirus trifoliata L.)
TROY	Troyer citrange (C. sinensis × P. trifoliata)
VOLK	Volkamer lemon (C. volkameriana Chapot.)

#### REFERENCES

- Alam SM (1999) Nutrient uptake by plants under stress conditions. In: Pessarakli M (Ed) Handbook of Plant and Crop Stress (2<sup>nd</sup> Edn), Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, pp 285-314
- Allen MF (2006) Water dynamics of mycorrhizas in arid soils. In: Gadd GM (Ed) Fungi in Biogeochemical Cycles, Cambridge University Press, British Mycological Society, pp 74-97
- Apel K, Hirt H (2004) Reactive oxygen species: Metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 55, 373-399
- Arbona V, Iglesias DJ, Jacas J, Primo-Millo E, Talon M, Gomez-Cadenas A (2005) Hydrogel substrate amendment alleviates drought effects on young citrus plants. *Plant and Soil* 270, 73-82
- Asada K (1999) The water-water cycle in chloroplasts: Scavenging of active oxygen and dissipation of excess photons. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* **50**, 601-639
- Augé RM (2001) Water relations, drought and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Mycorrhiza 11, 3-42
- Augé RM (2004) Arbuscular mycorrhizae and soil/plant water relations. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 84, 373-381
- Augé RM, Schekel KA, Wample RL (1986) Osmotic adjustment in leaves of VA mycorrhizal and nonmycorrhizal rose plants in response to drought stress. *Plant Physiology* 82, 765-770
- Augé RM, Stodola AJW, Tims JE, Saxton AM (2001) Moisture retention properties of a mycorrhizal soil. *Plant and Soil* 230, 87-97
- Brundrett MC, Abbott LK (2002) Arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant communities. In: Sivasithamparam K, Dixon KW, Barrett RL (Ed) Microorganisms in Plant Conservation and Biodiversity, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Secaucus, NJ, pp 151-193
- Chimenti CA, Marcantonio M, Hall AJ (2006) Divergent selection for osmotic adjustment results in improved drought tolerance in maize (*Zea mays* L.) in both early growth and flowering phases. *Field Crops Research* 95, 305-315
- Dixon RK, Garrett HE, Cox GS (1988) Carbohydrate relationships of Citrus jambhiri inoculated with Glomus fasciculatum. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 113, 239-242
- Eissenstat DM, Whaley EL, Volder A, Wells CE (1999) Recovery of citrus surface roots following prolonged exposure to dry soil. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 50, 1845-1854
- Espeleta JF, Eissenstat DM, Graham JH (1999) Citrus root responses to localized drying soil: A new approach to studying mycorrhizal effects on the roots of mature trees. *Plant and Soil* 206, 1-10
- Fester T, Hause T (2005) Accumulation of reactive oxygen species in arbuscular mycorrhizal roots. Mycorrhiza 15, 373-379
- Fidelibus MW, Martin CA, Stutz JC (2001) Geographic isolates of *Glomus* increase root growth and whole-plant transpiration of *Citrus* seedlings grown with high phosphorus. *Mycorrhiza* 10, 231-236
- Frank AB (1885) Uber die auf Wurzelsymbiose beruhende Ernährung gewisser Bäume durche unterirdische Pilze. Berichte Deutsche Botanische Gessellschaft 3, 128-145
- Gadkar V, David-Schwartz R, Kunik T, Kapulnik Y (2001) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal colonization. Factors involved in host recognition. *Plant Physiology* 127, 1493-1499
- García-Sánchez F, Syvertsen JP, Gimeno V, Botía P, Perez-Perez JG (2007) Responses to flooding and drought stress by two citrus rootstock seedlings with different water-use efficiency. *Physiologia Plantarum* 130, 532-542
- Garg N, Geetanjali, Kaur A (2006) Arbuscular mycorrhiza: Nutritional aspects. Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science 52, 593-606
- Gerdemann JW (1975) Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae. In: Torrey JC, Clarkson DT (Eds) *The Development and Function of Roots*, Academic Press, London, pp 575-591
- Gianinazzi S, Plumey-Jacquot E, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Leyval C (2005) Contribution of arbuscular mycorrhiza to soil quality and terrestrial ecotoxicology. In: Bloem J, Hopkins DW, Benedetti A (Ed) Microbiological Methods for Assessing Soil Quality, CABI Publishing, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, UK, pp 248-256
- Graham JH, Syvertsen JP (1984) Influence of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza on the hydraulic conductivity of roots of two citrus rootstocks. *New Phytologist* 97, 277-284
- Graham JH, Syvertsen JP (1985) Host determinants of mycorrhizal dependency of citrus rootstock seedlings. New Phytologist 101, 667-676
- Graham JH, Syvertsen JP, Smith ML (1987) Water relations of mycorrhizal and phosphorus-fertilized non-mycorrhizal *Citrus* under drought stress. *New Phytologist* 105, 411-419
- Hardie K, Leyton L (1981) The influence of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza on growth and water relations of red clover. I. In phosphate deficient soil. *New Phytologist* 89, 599-608
- Hartmond U, Schaesberg NV, Graham JH, Syvertsen JP (1987) Salinity and flooding stress effects on mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal citrus rootstock seedlings. *Plant and Soil* 104, 37-43
- Henderson JC, Davies FT Jr. (1990) Drought acclimation and the morphology of mycorrhizal *Rosa hybrida* L. cv. 'Ferdy' is independent of leaf elemental content. *New Phytologist* 115, 503-510

- Johnson CR, Hummel RL (1985) Influence of mycorrhizae and drought stress on growth of *Poncirus* × *Citrus* seedlings. *HortScience* 20, 754-755
- Jung S (2004) Variation in antioxidant metabolism of young and mature leaves of *Arabidopsis thaliana* subjected to drought. *Plant Science* **166**, 459-466
- Levy Y (1980) Field determination of free proline accumulation and water stress in lemon trees. *HortScience* 15, 302-303
- Levy Y, Bar-Akiva A, Vaadia Y (1978a) Influence of irrigation and environmental factors on grapefruit acidity. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 103, 73-76
- Levy Y, Bielorai H, Shalhevet J (1978b) Long-term effects of different irrigation regimes on grapefruit tree development and yield. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* **103**, 680-683
- Levy Y, Dodd J, Krikun J (1983a) Effect of irrigation, water salinity and rootstock on the vertical distribution of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza in citrus roots. *New Phytologist* 95, 397-403
- Levy Y, Krikun J (1980) Effect of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza on Citrus jambhiri water relations. New Phytologist 85, 25-31
- Levy Y, Shalhevet J, Bielorai H (1979) Effect of irrigation regime and water salinity on grapefruit quality. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 104, 356-359
- Levy Y, Syvertsen J (2004) Irrigation water quality and salinity effects in citrus trees. In: Janick J (Ed) *Horticultural Reviews*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, pp 37-82
- Levy Y, Syvertsen JP, Nemec S (1983b) Effect of drought stress and vesiculararbuscular mycorrhiza on citrus transpiration and hydraulic conductivity of roots. *New Phytologist* **93**, 61-66
- Martinez J-P, Lutts S, Schanck A, Bajji M, Kinet J-M (2004) Is osmotic adjustment required for drought stress resistance in the Mediterranean shrub *Atriplex halimus* L.? *Journal of Plant Physiology* **161**, 1041-1051
- Menge JA, Jarrell WM, Labanauskas CK, Ojala JC, Huszar C, Johnson ELV, Sibert D (1982) Predicting mycorrhizal dependency of Troyer citrange on *Glomus fasciculatus* in California citrus soils and nursery mixes. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 46, 762-768
- Menge JA, Johnson ELV, Platt RG (1978) Mycorrhizal dependency of several citrus cultivars under three nutrient regimes. *New Phytologist* 81, 553-559
- Morgan JAW, Bending GD, White PJ (2005) Biological costs and benefits to plant-microbe interactions in the rhizosphere. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 417, 1729-1739
- Nelsen CE, Safir GR (1982a) The water relations of well-watered, mycorrhizal, and nonmycorrhizal onion plants. *Journal of the American Society Horticultural Science* 107, 271-274
- Nelsen CE, Safir GR (1982b) Increased drought tolerance of mycorrhizal onion plants caused by improved phosphorous nutrition. *Planta* 154, 407-413
- Nemec S, Menge JA, Platt RG, Johnson ELV (1981) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with citrus in Florida and California notes on their distribution and ecology. *Mycologia* 73, 112-127
- Neto AD de A, Prisco JT, Eneas-Filho J, Medeiros J-VR, Gomes-Filho E (2005) Hydrogen peroxide pre-treatment induces salt-stress acclimation in maize plants. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **162**, 1114-1122
- Nichols KA, Wright SF (2006) Carbon and nitrogen in operationally-defined soil organic matter pools. *Biological and Fertility of Soils* 43, 215-220
- Palma JM, Longa MA, del Río LA, Arines J (1993) Superoxide dismutase in vesicular arbuscular-mycorrhizal red clover plants. *Physiologia Plantarum* 87, 77-83
- Peterson RL, Massicotte HB, Melville LH (2004) Mycorrhizas: Anatomy and Cell Biology, NRC Research Press, Ottawa, pp 55-80
- Porcel R, Aroca R, Azcón R, Ruiz-Lozano JM (2006) PIP aquaporin gene expression in arbuscular mycorrhizal *Glycine max* and *Lactuca sativa* plants in relation to drought stress tolerance. *Plant Molecular Biology* 60, 389-404
- Porcel R, Aroca R, Cano C, Bago A, Ruiz-Lozano JM (2007) A gene from the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* encoding a binding protein is up-regulated by drought stress in some mycorrhizal plants. *Envi*ronmental and Experimental Botany 60, 251-256
- **Porcel R, Azcón R, Ruiz-Lozano JM** (2004) Evaluation of the role of genes encoding for  $\Delta(1)$ -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS) during drought stress in arbuscular mycorrhizal *Glycine max* and *Lactuca sativa* plants. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **65**, 211-221
- Porcel R, Azcón R, Ruiz-Lozano JM (2005a) Evaluation of the role of genes encoding for dehydrin proteins (LEA D-11) during drought stress in arbuscular mycorrhizal *Glycine max* and *Lactuca sativa* plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56, 1933-1942
- Porcel R, Gomez M, Kaldenhoff R, Ruiz-Lozano JM (2005b) Impairment of NtAQP1 gene expression in tobacco plants does not affect root colonization pattern by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi but decreases their symbiotic efficiency under drought. Mycorrhiza 15, 417-423
- Porcel R, Ruiz-Lozano JM (2004) Arbuscular mycorrhizal influence on leaf water potential, solute accumulation, and oxidative stress in soybean plants subjected to drought stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 55, 1743-1750
- Querejeta JI, Eggerton-Warburton LM, Allen MF (2003) Direct nocturnal water transfer from oaks to their mycorrhizal symbionts during severe soil drying. *Oecologia* 134, 55-64
- Reid CPP (1984) Mycorrhizae: A root-soil interface in plant nutrition. In: Todd RL, Giddens JE (Ed) Microbial-Plant Interactions, Soil Science Society of

America Special Publication No. 47, Madison, WI, pp 29-50

Rillig MC (2004) Arbuscular mycorrhizae, glomalin, and soil aggregation. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 84, 355-363

- Rillig MC, Wright SF, Nichols KA, Schmidt WF, Torn MS (2001) Large contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to soil carbon pools in tropical forest soils. *Plant and Soil* 233, 167-177
- Rosier CL, Hoye AT, Rillig MC (2006) Glomalin-related soil protein: Assessment of current detection and quantification tools. *Soil Biology* and *Biochemistry* 38, 2205-2211
- Ruiz-Lozano JM (2003) Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis and alleviation of osmotic stress. New perspectives for molecular studies. *Mycorrhiza* 13, 309-317
- Ruiz-Lozano JM, Collados C, Barea JM, Azcón R (2001) Cloning of cDNAs encoding SODs from lettuce plants which show differential regulation by arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis and by drought stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 52, 2241-2242
- Salzer P, Corbiere H, Boller T (1999) Hydrogen peroxide accumulation in Medicago truncatula roots colonized by the arbuscular mycorrhiza-forming fungus Glomus intraradices. Planta 208, 319-325
- Sanchez FJ, Manzanares M, de Andres EF, Tenorio JL, Ayerbe L (1998) Turgor maintenance, osmotic adjustment and soluble sugar and proline accumulation in 49 pea cultivars in response to water stress. *Field Crops Research* 59, 225-235
- Sánchez-Díaz M, Honrubia M (1994) Water relations and alleviation of drought stress in mycorrhizal plants. In: Gianinazzi S, Schüepp H (Eds) Impact of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas on Sustainable Agriculture and Natural Ecosystems, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, pp 167-178
- Schüssler A, Schwarzott D, Walker C (2001) A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: Phylogeny and evolution. *Mycological Research* 105, 1413-1421
- Shalhevet J, Levy Y (1990) Citrus trees. In: Stewart BA, Nielsen DR (Eds) *Irrigation of Agricultural Crops*, American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America and Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, pp 951-986
- Sylvia DM (2004) Mycorrhizal symbioses. In: Sylvia DM, Fuhrmann J, Hartel PG, Zuberer DA (Eds) *Principles and Applications of Soil Microbiology* (2<sup>nd</sup> Edn), Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, pp 408-426
- Tisdall JM, Oades JM (1979) Stabilization of soil aggregates by the root systems of ryegrass. *Australian Journal of Soil Research* 17, 429-441
- Vinayak K, Bagyaraj DJ (1990) Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae screened for Troyer citrange. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 9, 311-314
- Vodnik D, Grčman H, Maček I, van Elteren JT, Kovačevič M (2008) The contribution of glomalin-related soil protein to Pb and Zn sequestration in polluted soil. *Science of the Total Environment* 392, 130-136
- Wright SF, Starr JL, Paltineanu IC (1999) Changes in aggregate stability and concentration of glomalin during tillage management transition. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 63, 1825-1829
- Wright SF, Upadhyaya A (1996) Extraction of an abundant and unusual protein from soil and comparison with hyphal protein of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Soil Science* 161, 575-586
- Wright SF, Upadhyaya A (1998) A survey of soils for aggregate stability and glomalin, a glycoprotein production by hyphae of arbuscular mycorrhizal

fungi. Plant and Soil 198, 97-107

- Wu QS, Wang YS, Xia RX (2006a) Comparison of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for drought resistance of trifoliate orange (*Poncirus trifoliata* L. Raf.) seedlings. *Acta Horticulturae Sinica* 33, 613-616
- Wu QS, Xia RX (2004) The relation between vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae and water metabolism in plants. *Chinese Agricultural Science Bulletin* 20, 188-192
- Wu QS, Xia RX (2005) Effects of AM fungi on drought tolerance of citrus grafting seedlings trifoliate orange/cara cara. *Chinese Journal of Applied Ecology* 16, 865-869
- Wu QS, Xia RX (2006a) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi influence growth, osmotic adjustment and photosynthesis of citrus under well-watered and water stress conditions. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 163, 417-425
- Wu QS, Xia RX (2006b) Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on leaf solutes and root absorption areas of trifoliate orange seedlings under water stress conditions. *Frontiers of Forestry in China* 1, 312-317
- Wu QS, Xia RX, Hu LM (2004) Effects of arbuscular mycorrhiza on growth and drought tolerance of trifoliate (*Poncirus trifoliata*) under non-sterilized soil conditions. *Journal of Fruit Science* 21, 315-318
- Wu QS, Xia RX, Zou YN (2006b) Reactive oxygen metabolism in mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal citrus (*Poncirus trifoliata*) seedlings subjected to water stress. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 163, 1101-1110
- Wu QS, Xia RX, Zou YN (2008) Improved soil structure and citrus growth after inoculation with three arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi under drought stress. *European Journal of Soil Biology* 44, 122-128
- Wu QS, Xia RX, Zou YN, Wang GY (2007a) Osmotic solute responses of mycorrhizal citrus (*Poncirus trifoliata*) seedlings to drought stress. *Acta Phy*siologiae Plantarum 29, 543-549
- Wu QS, Zou YN (2007) Influence of AM fungi on nutrient uptake in leaves of trifoliate orange seedlings subjected to water stress. Acta Botanica Boreali-Occidentalia Sinica 27, 74-78
- Wu QS, Zou YN, Xia RX (2006c) Effects of water stress and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on reactive oxygen metabolism and antioxidant production by citrus (*Citrus tangerine*) roots. *European Journal of Soil Biology* 42, 166-172
- Wu QS, Zou YN, Xia RX, Wang MY (2007b) Five Glomus species affect water relations of Citrus tangerine during drought stress. Botanical Studies 48, 147-154
- Xue HQ (2004) Water ecophysiology effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on *Citrus grandis* L. Osbeck cv. Shatianyou in Changshou. MD thesis, Southwest Agriculture University, Chongqing, P.R. China, 43 pp
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2005) Organization of *cis*-action regulatory elements in osmotic- and cold-stress-responsive promoters. *Trends in Plant Science* 10, 88-94
- Yano-Melo AM, Saggin OJ, Lima JM, Melo NF, Maia LC (1999) Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on the acclimatization of micropropagated banana plantlets. *Mycorrhiza* 9, 119-123
- Yu GB, Yang XH, Zhu J, Ren Q (2007) Effect of AM fungi on drought tolerance of Changshou Shatian shaddock. *Southern Agriculture* 1, 24-26
- Zézé A, Brou YC, Medich A, Marty F (2007) Molecular characterization of a mycorrhizal inoculant that enhances *Trifolium alexandrium* resistance under water stress conditions. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 6, 1524-1528